### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED

JUN 24 1991

				CLERK, SUPREME COURT /
CROSLEY A. GREEN,	)			By Chief Deputy Clerk
Appellant,	{			У
<b>1</b> 9	,	CASE NO	77 402	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 20, 1989, the grand jury in and for Brevard County, Florida returned an indictment charging Appellant with one count of first-degree felony murder in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)(2), Florida Statutes (1989), two counts of robbery with a firearm in violation of Sections 812.13(1) and 812.13(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1989) and two counts of kidnapping in violation of Sections 787.01(1)(a)(2) and (3), Florida Statutes (1989). (R2483-85) On May 11, 1990, Appellant filed a motion to suppress the photo line-up identification and subsequent in-court identification of Appellant by Kim Hallock. (R2597-2600) On May 22, 1990, Appellant filed a motion to limit introduction of dog track evidence. (R2610-12)

On May 31, 1990, a hearing was held on Appellant's motion to suppress identification evidence before the Honorable

John Antoon, II, Circuit Judge. (R1992-2152) On June 7, 1990, the trial court entered its order denying Appellant's motion to suppress the identification testimony. (R2649-50)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on August 27, 1990, with Judge Antoon presiding. (R1-1991)

Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding the Appellant guilty as charged on all counts. (R1977-78,2707-11) On September 27, 1990, the penalty phase was conducted. (R2173-2338)

By a vote of eight to four, the jury returned an advisory recommendation that Appellant be sentenced to death. (R2333,2782)

On February 8, 1991, Appellant again appeared before Judge Antoon for sentencing. (R2422-60) Judge Antoon adjudicated Appellant guilty of all charges and sentenced Appellant to death for the first-degree murder conviction. (R2454) Judge Antoon also sentenced Appellant to four concurrent terms of 27 years in prison on the remaining charges to be served consecutive to the sentence imposed for first-degree murder. (R2455-56,2850-56) Judge Antoon filed written findings in support of the sentence of death. (R2837-47)

On February 8, 1991, Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. (R2857) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the Office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R2864)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

FACTS AS TO THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS IDENTIFICATION TESTIMONY Some time around 11 p.m. on April 3, 1989, Kim Sue Hallock and Charles Flynn drove to Holder Park and parked under some trees near the dunes. (R2003-04) As they sat in Flynn's truck, the two talked and smoked some marijuana. (R2005) A short while later, a sheriff's car came through the area and shined its light but did not come up to the truck. (R2006) Hallock observed a black man walk towards the front of the truck and pass the driver's side. (R2006-07) As he walked by, the black man stated, "You all better watch out because there is a sheriff going through." (R2007) The man was wearing a green jacket. (R2007) They sat in the truck for a few more minutes and then Flynn got There was no out of the truck to go to the bathroom. (R2008) dome light in the truck but there was a light in the floor board. (R2008) While Flynn was out of the truck, Hallock heard him say "Wait a minute. Hold on man. Calm down." (R2009) retrieved a gun from the glove box and put it under some jeans on the front seat of the truck. (R2010) Hallock turned around and saw the black man who had previously walked past the car had now walked behind Flynn. (R2010) The black man had a gun. (R2010) The black man got between Flynn and the driver's side door to the truck and told Flynn to get down. (R2011) The man looked in the truck and saw some tennis shoes which he threw at Hallock and told her to take out the shoe laces. (R2013) Hallock did so and gave the shoe lace to the man who used it to tie Flynn's hands

behind him. (R2013) After tying up Flynn, the man asked if they had any money. (R2014) Hallock gave the man five dollars but Flynn told him he did not have his wallet. (R2014) The man forced Flynn to stand up and pulled out his wallet. (R2015) The man threw the wallet to Hallock and told her to count the money in the wallet. (R2015) There was \$185 in the wallet which Hallock gave to the man. (R2016) The man ordered both Hallock and Flynn to get in the car with Flynn on the passenger side and Hallock in the middle. (R2016-17) The man then got in the truck and drove away, telling Flynn and Hallock to keep their heads down. (R2017-18) During this ride, Flynn was able to grab the gun which Hallock had placed under the jeans. (R2018)

The man drove the truck to an open spot surrounded by woods where he stopped and yanked Hallock out of the truck.

(R2018-19) Flynn moved over to the driver's side and prevented the man from closing the truck door by using his foot. (R2019) The man told Flynn to stay in the truck. (R2019) Hallock was able to yank away from the man and ran behind the truck. (R2020) When she got to the passenger door, Hallock opened it and had one foot inside the truck when the man caught her and yanked her back out causing her to fall slightly to the ground. (R2020) The man put the gun to Hallock's head, called her a slut, and said she would do what he wanted or he would blow her brains out. (R2021) When Hallock looked up, Flynn was at the passenger door and shot at the man, causing him to let Hallock go. (R2021) Flynn dove out of the truck to the ground. (R2021) Hallock jumped in the

truck and locked the doors. (R2021) Hallock heard Flynn yell to her to go so she drove off. (R2021) Hallock drove to Flynn's best friend's house and called the police. (R2021)

Later that day, Hallock was at the police station and looked at between 60 and 80 photographs. (R2022,2086,2102)
Although Hallock was unable to make any identification, she did pick out two or three pictures which showed some characteristics similar to that of her assailant. (R2086,2022,2102) After looking at all these photographs, Hallock assisted the officers in making a composite sketch of the suspect. (R2024,2087,2103) In checking the composite sketch, Hallock thought that everything was fine except the hair. (R2025)

on the following day, a photo line-up was compiled using a recent picture of Appellant obtained from the Department of Corrections. (R2008) The first photo line-up had to be changed because Appellant's picture was so much darker than the other photos in the line-up. (R2107,2093) Hallock went down to the police station and was shown the photo line-up. (R2027,2077,2089,2103) When the officer gave the line-up to Hallock, she was told that the suspect was included in the photo pack. (R2027,2052,2078) Hallock looked at all the photos and eventually selected photo number 2. (R2028,2079,2090) The officers asked Hallock if she was sure and intitially she said she thought she was and eventually told the officers that she was positive. (R2029,2042,2090)

Hallock testified that the only time she got a good

look at the man was during the initial encounter at Holder Park. (R2034-39) After they left Holder Park, Hallock never looked at him again. (R2043) Hallock testified that the person who committed these crimes had a permanent in his hair which was greasy. (R2049)

#### B. FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

On the evening of April 3, 1989, Kim Sue Hallock was at her home watching television when her ex-boyfriend, Charles Flynn came by. (R564-65) Flynn and Hallock watched a movie until about 11 o'clock p.m. when Flynn asked Hallock if she wanted to go for a ride. (R568-69) Hallock agreed and they left in Flynn's truck and stopped at a Jiffy Store. (R569) Afterwards, Flynn drove to Holder Park and stopped near the dunes. (R570) Hallock and Flynn had been there on several occasions prior to this. (R570) Flynn parked the truck and the two of them talked and smoked some marijuana. (R575) A sheriff's car drove near the area shining a spot-light on things. (R575)

After the deputy went past, a black man walked in front of the truck and passed the driver's door. (R576-77) Hallock could not see the person's face but did observe that he was wearing a green jacket. (R577) When the man got to the driver's window, he said, "You guys better watch out. There's a cop going through." (R578) The black man walked away and Hallock and Flynn talked for a few more minutes after which Flynn exited the truck to go to the bathroom. (R579) Flynn was standing near the truck with his back towards Hallock when all of a sudden she

heard him say, "Hold on. Wait a minute man. Hold on. Put it down." (R580-81) Because Flynn sounded nervous, Hallock retrieved his gun from the glove box and placed it under some jeans which were on the seat next to her. (R581) Hallock turned and saw the black man who had previously passed the truck come up between Flynn and the driver's side door. (R582) The man told Flynn to get down on his knees. (R583) The man told Hallock to scoot over to the driver's seat which she did. (R584) The man asked them if they had any money and Flynn said he did not have his wallet. (R584) Hallock had five dollars in her purse and she gave it to him. (R585) During this time, the black man was holding a gun to Flynn's head. (R585)

The man observed some tennis shoes in the truck and ordered Hallock to take the laces out and give them to him which she did. (R586) The man took the shoe lace and tied Flynn's hands behind him. (R587) During this time, Hallock was able to see the side of the man's face and a couple of times she was able to see the front of his face when he looked at her. (R589) The truck had no dome light in it but did have a light under the dashboard although Hallock was not sure that it was working. (R590) While the man was tying Flynn's hands, his gun went off. (R590) The man then pulled Flynn up from the ground, took his wallet from his pocket, and threw it to Hallock. (R590) The man told Hallock to count the money in the wallet which she did. (R591) There was \$185 in the wallet which she gave to the black man. (R591-2) The man then told Hallock to get into the truck

and to start it up which she did but then got back out of the car and stood behind Flynn. (R592-3) Flynn told the man to let Hallock go and just take him and the truck. (R593) The man told Hallock and Flynn to get into the truck. (R593) Flynn got in first and sat on the passenger side and Hallock sat in the middle. (R593) The man then got in the driver's side and backed the truck out. (R594) While they were driving, the man told Hallock and Flynn to keep their heads down. (R597) While they were riding, Flynn found the gun which Hallock had placed under the jeans and was trying to maneuver behind Hallock in an attempt to shoot at the man. (R597-8) The man drove into an orange grove where he stopped the truck, grabbed Hallock by the arm, opened the door and yanked Hallock out. (R598-99) Flynn moved over to the driver's side and kept the man from closing the truck door by putting his foot out of the truck. (R599) At one point, Hallock was able to yank away from the black man and ran around the truck. (R599) Hallock got to the passenger side door, opened it, and got one foot in the door. (R615) The man grabbed Hallock out of the truck and to the ground. (R615) The man then put his gun to Hallock's head, told her she was a slut and told her she would do as he wanted or he would blow her brains out. (R615) Hallock looked up from the ground and saw that Flynn had the gun behind him and he shot at the black man. (R615) Flynn shot one time causing the man to let go of Hallock. (R616) Flynn dove out of the truck onto the ground and Hallock jumped in the truck, shut the door and locked it. (R616) Hallock turned and saw the man

shoot the gun. (R616) Flynn yelled to Hallock to leave so she did. (R616-17) Eventually, Hallock drove to U.S. 1 and proceeded to the house of Flynn's best friend, David Stroup, from where she called the police. (R617)

The police arrived and took Hallock with them so she could direct them to the location where Flynn was last seen. (R618,518) Hallock directed the officers to the orange grove. (R519) When they got to the area, the officers found a white male lying on his stomach with his hands bound behind his back. (R522-23) The person was Charles Flynn. (R522) Flynn was still conscious when the officers arrived and told them to "Get me out of here. I want to go home." (R524) There was blood on Flynn but no injury could be immediately observed. (R524) A .22 revolver was found nearby. (R525) The gun was fully loaded with nine cartridges of which three had been fired. (R525-6) several occasions while the officers waited for the paramedics to arrive, Flynn stopped breathing and had to be resuscitated. (R528) When the paramedics finally arrived, Flynn was not breathing, had no pulse, his pupils were dilated, and nonreactive to light. (R849) Although there was a very faint heartbeat, Flynn was clinically dead. (R849) All attempts to revive Flynn failed. (R850-51) An autopsy was performed on Flynn revealing a single gunshot wound to the chest. (R2829) bullet entered the right chest and went through the right lung. (R829) Flynn's right chest cavity filled with blood resulting in his death. (R829) The entire area at Holder Park as well as at

the orange grove were processed for evidentiary purposes.

Numerous shoe prints were found at Holder Park heading in a northerly direction from the dune area. (R901-02) A video tape was made of the scene at Holder Park. (R918) Other shoe prints were also found in the Holder Park area aside from those leading from the dune area. (R928,931)

Kim Hallock went to the police station in the early morning hours of April 4, 1989, where she was asked to go through a box of photographs for the purposes of attempting to identify a suspect. (R619-20) Hallock was unable to make a positive identification but picked out several photographs which showed characteristics similar to that of her assailant. (R620) Hallock gave a description of her assailant including the fact that he was wearing a green army jacket, jeans, heavy shoes like work boots. (R621) She also stated that the man had a wide flaring nose, medium eyes, and average lips. (R622) The man also had his hair in a permanent with ringlets with a lot of grease in his hair. (R691,693) Hallock helped the police artist compose a sketch of her assailant. (R622)

On the following day, Hallock again went down to the police station where she was asked to view a photographic line-up containing six photographs. (R782,623) Before she was shown the line-up, an officer told Hallock "We have six pictures we want you to look at. We have a suspect within these six pictures. You can take as long as you want . . . if you can't identify him, fine." (R623) Hallock looked at the six photographs and told the

police that suspect number 2 was the assailant. (R624,783)

Initially, Hallock told the officers that she was "pretty sure"

that number 2 was her assailant. (R757) After being asked

several times, Hallock finally said she was positive. (R757) The

officers then told her that she had picked the right person.

(R624) The person in photo number 2 was identified as Appellant.

(R783)

At the Holder Park scene, the area was secured and Investigator Cockriel called for a canine officer to come to attempt a track. (R1025-6) Officer O'Dell Kiser responded to the scene with his dog Czar. (R1305-08) Czar had previously been utilized 700 to 800 times for scent work. (R1386) They responded to the Holder Park scene and immediately went to the dune area where a set of prints were observed. (R1396) Kiser released Czar and gave him a command to search. (R1396) Czar immediately picked up a scent on the footprints and conducted what they call a back-track which means they followed the tracks in the opposite direction from which they were made. (R1397-98) Czar picked up the scent and went from the dunes south on Glendale Boulevard for two-tenths of a mile. (R1398) Czar then turned right, onto Briarcliff way and continued to the house on the northeast corner of Briarcliff and Belvedere. (R1419) Czar then went from the sidewalk onto the front yard of the house. (R1419) There were other dogs in the driveway which started barking so Kiser stopped his dog at this point. (R1421) Kiser then returned to Holder Park and started his dog on a second track which went around the

ball fields. (R1422) The house on Briarcliff Way where the track terminated belonged to Appellant's sister. (R1492) Appellant had apparently stayed with his sister at some point. (R1198) On April 3, 1989, Appellant was seen at his sister's home on Briarcliff Way at 3 o'clock p.m. (R1225)

Several persons testified that Appellant was at Holder Park on the evening of April 3, 1989. (R1264-66,1284-87) Willie Hampton, an umpire at a little league game that evening, spoke with Appellant several times. (R1265) However when Hampton left the field at approximately 10 o'clock p.m., Appellant was not at the field. (R1267) All of the people who saw Appellant that night agreed that Appellant's hair was very short and was not greasy at all. (R1270,1290,1666,1688)

Appellant's sister Sheila Green, saw Appellant the day after the shooting and confronted him with the rumors she had heard that Appellant had shot the man. (R854-56) Sheila said that Appellant told her that he did not intentionally kill him but that the man had pulled a gun on him and told the girl to go for help. (R857) Appellant told Sheila that he struggled with the man and had to shoot him. (R858) Sheila Green was arrested for federal drug charges and was facing prison time. (R859) However she was told by the prosecutor that if she testified truthfully the prosector would go before the judge and ask for leniency for her. (R860) Sheila did not agree to testify until after she had been convicted. (R866)

Lonnie Hillery, who has known Appellant for five years,

testified that in the early morning hours of April 4, 1989, he saw Appellant near a bar-b-que stand in Mims. (R869-70) Appellant seemed shaken and scared so Hillery asked him what was up. (R872-3) According to Hillery, Appellant said "I fucked up man." (R873) When Hillery asked Appellant what he meant Appellant told that some people came through trying to buy something from him and they tried to get him. Appellant again repeated that he "fucked up." (R874) Hillery was also facing federal drug charges when the prosecutor approached him and said that they would drop charges against his girlfriend Sheila Green and also agree to drop his charges to state charges if he would testify. (R878-9) Hillery rejected the deal, went to trial and was found not guilty. (R879) The prosecutor again approached Hillery and asked him to testify in return for which they would help Sheila Green. (R879) Hillery stated that the prosecutor told him the date of the alleged incident for which Hillery had no independent knowledge. (R881) Hillery only came forward when it appeared that Sheila Green was going to prison. (R882)

Alan Murray testified that one afternoon he was hanging on a street corner with a group of guys when Appellant came up and said he had just killed a man. (R1231) Appellant then said "I'm going to disappear." (R1231) However, on this afternoon, Murray had been drinking very heavily and was under the influence of alcohol. (R1234) Murray had drunk a 12 pack of sixteen ounce malt liquor beer. (R1257) Although Murray claimed to have been with a group of people, he could not remember a single name of

any of the men. (R1259) At some point Murray was arrested on a misdemeanor warrant but the prosecutor went to the judge and arranged to have Murray released on bond. (R1237)

Numerous items were found at the scene including a wallet, beer bottles, and bullets. The items were all processed for latent prints but no good prints were lifted. (R1100-01) Flynn's truck was also processed for fingerprints and 16 latent prints were lifted from the truck. (R1125) Of the 16 prints, six were not usable and five matched Kim Hallock's prints. (R1125-26) The five remaining prints were all usable but none of them matched Appellant's prints. (R1123,1128)

Appellant's sister, Celestine Peterkin, lives at 3658
Briarcliff Way. (R1718) At the time of this incident, Appellant
was not staying with Peterkin. (R1721)

James L. Carn was employed at North Hydro in Rockledge, Florida. (R1674) On April 3, 1989, Carn worked until 11 p.m. (R1675) Carn was dating Carlene Brothers who lived in Mims. (R1675) Carlene and Appellant are cousins. (R1676) When Carn got off work that evening he drove to Carlene's house arriving at approximately 11:45 p.m. (R1679) Carlene had another man at her house which resulted in Carlene and Carn getting into a fight. (R1680) They argued for approximately 20 minutes when Carlene ran to her friend Aretha's house. (R1682) Carn followed Carlene to Aretha's where they argued for another ten to fifteen minutes. (R1683) Finally, Carn convinced Carlene to come with him back to her house. (R1684) Once back at Carlene's house, Carn and she

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