IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 14 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

CROSLEY A. GREEN,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 77,402

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH, ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #618550
210 N. Palmetto Ave.
Suite 447
Daytona Beach, FL 32114
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

<u>POINT 1</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of dog scent tracking. A sufficient predicate was laid to support inferences that the trail had been left by the guilty party and that it was Green who was that guilty party. Even if the trial court erred, it was harmless at worst as the verdict could not have been affected.

POINT 2: Issues concerning Hallock's in and out of court identifications of Green are not cognizable since there was no contemporaneous objection when they were presented. Even if cognizable, the claims are without merit. The record supports the trial court's findings that the police procedures in obtaining the out-of-court identification were not unduly suggestive or conducive to mistaken identification and the witness' opportunity to observe provided indicia of reliability.

<u>POINT 3</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Green's motion for a jury view of the scene where there was no showing that the lighting conditions were the same, the lighting conditions were not in dispute, and reasonable jurors could envisage such conditions from the description given.

<u>POINT 4</u>: The trial court properly instructed the jury on flight where there was significantly more evidence of guilt, both direct and circumstantial, than flight standing alone. Further, the evidence of flight was presented without objection so could have been considered in any event, and in light of the other evidence, the instruction on flight, which told the jury nothing more than that flight could be considered, did not affect the verdict.

<u>POINT 5</u>: The trial court properly considered as separate aggravating factors that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain and was committed during the course of a kidnapping. This court has previously approved the finding of both factors. The factors relate to separate aspects of Green's crime and were properly given separate consideration.

<u>POINT 6</u>: The murder of Chip Flynn was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The record demonstrates there were additional acts which undoubtedly caused fear and anxiety to the victim, which sets this crime apart from the norm of capital felonies.

did not err in rejecting The trial court POINT 7: mitigating evidence proffered by Green as it does not extenuate or reduce the degree of his moral culpability for the instant offense, nor does it in any way ameliorate the enormity of his The trial court properly rejected the mitigating factor that Green was under duress, as Green placed himself in the situation. Even if the trial court erred in failing to find any of these factors in mitigation it would not affect the sentence as little weight could be accorded these factors.

other where the jury has POINT 8: Compared with cases recommended death and the trial court has imposed it, Green's case warrants the death penalty so the sentence is proportional. The cases cited by Green are distinguishable as they involve substantial domestic confrontations ormitigating evidence, neither of which is present in the instant case.

<u>POINT 9:</u> This court's construction of heinous, atrocious or comports with constitutional standards.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF THE DOG SCENT TRACKING.

Green contends that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of dog scent tracking where an insufficient predicate had been laid. Green does not take issue with the dog's qualifications, but claims that since the evidence could not be tied to him it was irrelevant and thus its admission was erroneous. The record demonstrates that a sufficient predicate was laid and the evidence was properly admitted.

The dog was not, as Green states, simply brought to "an Rather, the dog was brought to the first crime scene within several hours of the commission of the crime, and the scene had been secured by the officers and no other pedestrians had entered the scene after the officers' arrival (R 1025). Fresh tracks were observed coming to the scene, and the dog was ordered to track from that point (R 1489, 1330). The dog immediately picked up a scent and began to track (R 1332). dog followed a continuous track, and never acted as if he had lost the track or was having difficulty following it (R 1334). The dog followed the trail directly to Green's sister, Celestine Peterkin's house (R 1492). There was testimony that Green lived at his sister's house (R 855, 1197), and he had been seen there the afternoon before the murder and the day after the murder (R 858, 1225).

As these facts indicate, there was no hesitation on the dog's part in backtracking the trail that led directly from

Peterkin's house, where Green had been staying, to the crime scene. See, Tomlinson v. State, 129 Fla. 658, 176 So. 543 (1937); Edwards v. State, 390 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). The fact that the trail led directly to the crime scene, and could not have been made by the victims, supports an inference that it was left by the guilty party. See, Murray v. State, 180 Ga.App. 493, 349 S.E.2d 490 (1986). Likewise, the fact that Green had been at Peterkin's house supports an inference that the track was made by him. Id.; see also, People v. Malgren, 139 Cal.App.3d 234, 188 Cal.Rptr. 569 (1st District 1983); People v. Harper, 43 Mich.App. 500, 204 N.W.2d 263 (1972). Thus, the trial court properly admitted the dog track evidence.

Even if this court determines that it was error to admit the evidence, appellee submits it was harmless at worst. Other evidence of guilt includes an eyewitness identification (R 595), and that witness' description of the clothes Green was wearing that night was the same as the description given by two other people who had seen Green that evening (R 1266, 1289). In fact, those witnesses contacted the police after reading the description or seeing the sketch of the attacker in the paper (R 1264, 1288). Sheila Green testified that Green told her he had "shot a dude" after the man had pulled a gun on him and told the girl to run for help (R 857). In the early morning after the shooting Green stated he had "fucked up" (R 869, 873). Green

Dale Carlile directly testified to this this, and while Willie Hampton's trial testimony is not crystal clear, it certainly supports such inference, and his statement clearly demonstrates that he contacted the police after seeing the sketch (R 2888-90).

told another person he had shot a man and was "going to disappear" (R 1231), and did. Thus, the evidence of the dog track could not have affected the verdict. $State\ v.\ DiGuilio,\ 491$ So.2d 1129 (1986).

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED GREEN'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHOTOGRAPHIC IDENTIFICATION AND SUBSEQUENT IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF HIM BY KIM HALLOCK.

As Green states, counsel objected to the in-court identification and photo lineup. However, the objection (R 1033) did not come until well after Hallock had identified Green (R 725) and testified about the lineup (R 722-24) (and finished testifying altogether), and the lineup had been admitted into evidence (R 788). 2 As such, the issue has not been preserved for appellate review. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). also, Correll v. State, 523 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1988) (even where a prior motion in limine has been denied, failure to object to collateral crimes evidence at the time it is introduced at trial waives the objection); Roban v. State, 384 So.2d 683 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (failure to renew objection at trial, even though prior motion to suppress filed, precludes appellate review); Grant v. State, 555 So.2d 435 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (objection during opening statement does not satisfy requirement of contemporaneous objection when evidence is presented). Compare, Jackson v. State, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1984) (objection made during impermissible line questioning sufficiently timely). Even if this court finds the issue is cognizable, relief is not warranted.

Counsel specifically stated he had no objection to the lineup, and while he later stated he had a conditional objection on the basis that it may not have been the same lineup, that issue has not been persued (R 788, 790).

The ruling of a trial court on a motion to suppress comes to an appellate court clothed with a presumption of correctness, and the reviewing court will interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustain the trial court's ruling.

McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978). Likewise, a trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520, 523 (Fla. 1984). In denying Green's motion to suppress, the trial court found:

- A. The pretrial photographic identification of the defendant was not obtained by an unnecessarily suggestive procedure.
- B. The procedures used by police officers in obtaining pretrial a photographic identification οf defendant were not unnecessarily conducive to mistaken identification and therefore did not constitute a denial of due process of law.
- C. The identifying witnesses' opportunity to observe the defendant provided indicia of reliability (footnote omitted).

(R 2649). The record supports the trial court's findings and Green has failed to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the photographic lineup evidence and subsequent in-court identification.

A suggestive confrontation procedure by itself is not enough to require exclusion of the out-of-court identification.

Grant v. State, 390 So.2d 341, 343 (Fla. 1980), citing Manson v.

Brathwaite, 423 U.S. 98, 110, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 2250, 53 L.Ed.2d 140

(1977). The out-of-court identification is admissible, despite its suggestive aspects, if it possesses certain aspects of reliability. *Id.* The appropriate test is twofold:

did the employ (1)police unnecessarily suggestive procedure in obtaining an out-of-court identification; (2) if so, considering circumstances, the did suggestive procedure give rise substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

Id. The second part of the test need not be addressed where there has not been unnecessarily suggestive procedures utilized in obtaining the out-of-court identification. Id. at 344. The factors to be utilized in evaluating the second part include:

the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the of accuracy the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and confrontation.

Id. at 343, quoting, Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200, 93 S.Ct. 375, 382, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972).

The trial court properly found that the police did not employ unnecessarily suggestive procedures in obtaining Hallock's out-of-court identification, so this court need only address the first step in the analysis. The lineup consists of six same-sized photographs of black males with similar characteristics in similar poses. See, e.g., Lewis v. State, 572 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1990). The fact that Green's photograph is darker than the rest does not make it stand out in the sense of waving a red flag in front of

the witness as to which one to choose, particularly where there is no evidence that Hallock's attention was directed to that photograph. See, Cikora v. Dugger, 840 F.2d 893 (11th Cir. 1988). Appellee submits that if any of the photographs could be said to stand out in terms of a suspect it would be number five, which is clearly a "mug shot".

Likewise, the fact that Hallock was told that there was a suspect in the lineup does not render the procedure impermissibly suggestive. Bundy v. State, 455 So.2d 330 (Fla. 1984); Cikora, supra. The fact that there is a suspect in the lineup is inherent in such procedure. Obviously the police are not going to show a witness a lineup that does not contain a suspect. A witness knows that he or she is there to identify a suspect (which is the reason why such lineups cannot be impermissibly suggestive), so telling a witness something she already knows certainly cannot affect anything. Because Green has failed to show that the police used an impermissibly suggestive procedure in obtaining an identification, Hallock's identification testimony was properly admitted. Bundy, supra.

Further, the trial court properly determined that the procedure used in this case did not give rise to a substantial likelihood of an irreparable mistaken identification. $Manson\ v.$ Braithwaite, supra.

1. The opportunity to view. Hallock was able to observe Green for four to five minutes while they were at Holder Park (R 2036). When Green first walked behind Chip, Hallock could see his face for about fifteen seconds (R 2041). Green looked at her

while she was seated in the truck and told her to scoot over (R 2011). After Hallock got out of the truck she was able to observe his face for ten to fifteen seconds (R 2039). Hallock could see his profile for about sixty seconds when he was tying Chip (R 2038). Hallock was able to give a physical description, a description of Green's clothing, and was able to assist in putting together a sketch. While it was dark outside, Hallock was able to catch the wallet that Green threw to her and was able to count the money contained in it (R 2015-16). Hallock also testified that when Green looked in the truck the light illuminated him (R 2013-14). Thus, there was sufficient time and light for Hallock to view Green. See, Bundy, supra.

- 2. The degree of attention. Hallock's attention was focused on Green. She watched him for approximately sixty seconds while he tied up Chip. She looked directly at his face on two other occasions. Hallock was also able to give a detailed account of the events, thus indicating that she was paying attention to what was going on.
- 3. The accuracy of the description. The only discrepancy that Green can point out between his characteristics and Hallock's description is his hair. There is no claim that Green does not possess the other physical characteristics described by Hallock. See, Bundy, supra; Manson, supra. Significantly, elsewhere the record demonstrates that two witnesses contacted the police with Green's name as a result of the publicized description given by Hallock, and there is no claim that the hair description played any part in these identifications.

- 4. The witness' level of certainty. All of the witnesses agreed that Hallock picked Green's photograph out of the lineup in a very short amount of time, with her dad saying from one to two minutes and her saying three to four minutes (R 2055, 2080, 2090). Hallock first stated that she was pretty sure and then she stated that she was positive. She never again hesitated.
- 5. The time between the crime and the confrontation. Hallock's description was given several hours after the attack and the photo identification was made two days later. This is the same amount of time that passed for the identification in the Manson case, and the Court found that this factor was satisfied on that basis.

Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that there is a very substantial likelihood of misidentification. Short of that, such evidence is for the jury to weigh. Manson, supra. See also, Perez v. State, 539 So.2d 600 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). Thus, Hallock's out-of-court identification of Green was admissible, as was her in-court identification based on her ability to observe Green at the crime scene.

Even if the point is preserved and one or both of the identifications were improperly admitted, the verdict would not be affected. *DiGuillo*, *supra*. Green was at the park the night of the crimes, the description of the clothes he was wearing matched that of the assailant's clothes. Green made admissions to three people, and disappeared. The dog followed a track directly from the crime scene to the house where Green had been staying.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING GREEN'S MOTION FOR A JURY VIEW OF THE SCENE.

Green contends that the denial of his request for a jury view was error. The primary purpose of a view by the jury is to assist it in analyzing and applying the evidence taken at trial. Rankin v. State, 143 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1962). As Green recognizes, the decision to grant a jury view is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Bundy v. State, 471 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1985); Rankin, supra; Taylor v. State, 139 Fla. 542, 190 So. 691 (1939). The record demonstrates there was no abuse of discretion in denying a jury view of the scene.

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